Guildhall Gainsborough Lincolnshire DN21 2NA

Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170

AGENDA

This meeting will be recorded and the video archive published on our website

Licensing Committee
Thursday, 4th December, 2025 at 6.30 pm
Council Chamber - The Guildhall

Members: Councillor Jim Snee (Chairman)

Councillor Maureen Palmer (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor John Barrett Councillor Eve Bennett Councillor Stephen Bunney Councillor Karen Carless

Councillor Mrs Angela Lawrence

Councillor Paul Lee

Councillor Mrs Lesley Rollings Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee Councillor Trevor Young

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Public Participation

Up to 15 minutes are allowed for public participation. Participants are restricted to 3 minutes each.

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting/s

(PAGES 3 - 4)

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2024.

4. Declarations of Interest

Members may make declarations of Interest at this point or may make them at any point in the meeting.

5. Public Reports for Approval

i) Review of Licensing Act 2003 Policy

(PAGES 5 - 49)

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats:

Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language

Paul Burkinshaw Head of Paid Service The Guildhall Gainsborough

Wednesday, 26 November 2025

WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES of the Meeting of the Licensing Committee held in the Council Chamber - The Guildhall on 12 September 2024 commencing at 6.30 pm.

Present: Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee (Vice-Chairman in the Chair)

Councillor Mrs Angela Lawrence
Councillor Maureen Palmer

In Attendance:

Andy Gray Housing & Environmental Enforcement Manager Katie Storr Democratic Services & Elections Team Manager

Natalie Smalley Democratic and Civic Officer

Apologies: Councillor Jim Snee

Councillor John Barrett Councillor Paul Lee

Councillor Mrs Diana Rodgers Councillor Baptiste Velan

1 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation.

2 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING/S

The Chairman explained there were two sets of minutes, one for approving and one for noting.

With regard to the meeting of Licensing Committee held on 21 June 2021, and in response to Members being cautious about their ability to approve the Minutes given the time-lapse and changed membership. The Chairman advised it was a statutory requirement to approve the minutes at the next meeting, this being the next meeting, in acknowledgement of the time lapse, and revised membership, it was suggested the words "to the best of members knowledge" be included in the resolution passed. The Committee indicated their contentment to the suggestion.

Having been moved and seconded, with the amendment detailed above, it was

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting of the Licensing Committee held on Thursday 10 June 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct and accurate record to the best of members' knowledge.

The Minutes of the Meeting of the Licensing Sub Committee, held on 20 March 2023, were **NOTED.**

3 **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

There were no declarations of interest made at this point in the meeting.

4 **GAMBLING ACT - STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES**

The Committee heard from the Housing and Enforcement Manager who explained that the Council was required to publish a Statement of Licensing Principles in relation to gambling licensing every three years. The policy was intended to guide decision makers, applicants, objectors and others regarding the decision making process.

The Committee gave consideration to the statement of principles with a view to recommending it to Full Council for adoption. Members commented that there were no changes to the policy, and after being proposed and seconded it was

RESOLVED that the Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles be approved for **RECOMMENDATION** to Full Council, at its next meeting (4 November 2024) for final determination.

The meeting concluded at 6.39 pm.

Chairman

Agenda Item 5a



Licensing Committee

4th December 2025

Subject: Licensing Policy Review

Report by: Chief Executive

Contact Officer: Andy Gray

Housing and Enforcement Manager

andy.gray@west-lindsey.gov.uk

Purpose / Summary: This report is in relation to the statutory process

of reviewing the Licensing Policy (which has been amended accordingly) and is put before Members of Full Council for their consideration

RECOMMENDATION(S):

Licensing Committee are asked to approve;

- a) The Statement of Licensing Policy as shown in appendix 1.
- b) That it proceeds to Full Council for approval and adoption in January 2026

IMPLICATIONS

Legal:

Section 5(1)(a)(b) of the Act requires each Licensing Authority to determine and publish a Licensing Policy Statement and review on an ongoing basis, within a five-year period. Adoption of the Policy Statement is a Council function which cannot be delegated to a Committee or Sub-Committee.

Financial: FIN/99/29/LC/SSc

No financial implications arising from this report.

Staffing:

None noted.

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights:

The consultation has been completed in line with the legislative requirements and provision has been made for all relevant persons to comment as necessary.

Data Protection Implications:

None noted.

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities:

None noted.

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations:

It is noted that the Licensing of premises plays a key role in ensuring that any crime and disorder can be managed appropriately and ensures that a robust process is in place to enable the management of this. This policy seeks to ensure that this process can happen effectively.

Health Implications:

An effective and fit for purpose Licensing Policy helps to ensure that residents within the district and those visiting are safe and reduces the risk of health implications in relation to premises which require a license.

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

None noted

RISK ASSESSITIETIL.				
Failure to adopt and publish a Statement of Policy means that the authority would not be complying with the Licensing Act 2003 and would leave any decisions made by the Licensing Authority open to challenge along with the potential to damage to its reputation.				
It should be noted that the policy, following on from consultation and if approved, can be challenged as with any decision made by the Council. However, in order to minimise the risks of any legal challenge, the comments received will be given due consideration and these will be set out in the final report to Licensing committee.				
Call in and Urgency:				
Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply?				
i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman)	No			
Key Decision:				
A matter which affects two or more wards, or has significant financial implications	No			

1. Introduction

- 1.1. Section 3 of the Licensing Act 2003 defines this Council as a "Licensing Authority".
- 1.2. Section 4 of the Act requires the Licensing Authority to have regard to its Licensing Policy in carrying out its functions, and must also have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State under Section 182
- 1.3. Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires that each Licensing Authority prepares, consults on and determines a Statement of Licensing Policy. That policy must be kept under review on an ongoing basis and in any case every five years. The current policy was adopted by Council in 2021. The legislation requires that, where revisions are made, the licensing authority must publish a statement of the revisions or the revised licensing statement. The revised policy must be in place by the end of January 2026.

2. Consultation

- 2.1. The required legislative consultation took place between the 21st July 2025 and the 26th September 2025 and was placed upon the Council's website.
- 2.2. The Council is also required to specifically consult with the following bodies:
 - The Chief Officer of Police for the licensing authority's area;
 - The Fire Authority for that area;
 - Representatives of holders of premises licences, club premises certificates and personal licences;
 - Other persons the licensing authority considers to be representative of businesses and residents in its area:
 - The Local Authority's Director of Public Health England (DPH).
- 2.3. No responses were received during the consultation period.

3. Policy

- 3.1. There are no policy amendments proposed as a result of the consultation and the policy is shown in appendix 1.
- 3.2. The policy, as attached, requires approval and adoption at Full Council in January 2026.



STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

To be adopted by Full Council on 26 January 2026

To be effective from January 2026

Contents

	Page(s
Executive Summary	3
Introduction	4-7
Integrated Strategies & Avoidance of Duplication	7-8
The Licensing Process	8-9
Premises Licence & Club Premises Certificates	9-11
Adult Entertainment	11
Large Scale Events	11
Personal Licences and Designated Premises Supervisors	12
Temporary Event Notices	12-14
Licensing Hours	14
Licensing Objectives	14
Prevention of Crime & Disorder	15
Public Safety	16-17
Prevention of Public Nuisance	18-19
Protection of Children from Harm	19-21
Cumulative Impact	21-23
Nudity and Striptease	23-24
General Matters	24
Regulated Entertainment	24-26
Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs)	26
Late Night Levy (LNL)	26
Outdoor Furniture & Street Café Licences	26-27
Smoke Free Legislation	27 27
Late Night Refreshment	27
Designated Premises Supervisor Review of Premises Licences & Club Premises Certificates	27-29
Councillors as Other Persons	27-29
Town & Parish Councils	29
Drinking Up Time/Chill Out Period	29
Staff Training and Safeguarding	29-30
Petrol Stations	30
Circuses	30
Excessive Consumption of Alcohol/Binge Drinking/Irresponsible	00
Drinks Promotions	30-31
Community Premises & Applications for the Removal of the	
Requirement for a Designated Premises Supervisor	31-33
New Year's Eve & New Year's Day	33
Licence Suspensions – non-payment of annual fee	33-34
Immigration Act 2016 – Entitlement to work	34
Conditions of Licence	34-35
Enforcement	35
Review of Policy	35
Exchange of Information	35
Advice and Guidance	35-36
Delegation of Functions	36
Appendix 1 – Delegation of Functions	37-38
Appendix 2 – Definitions and Glossary	39-40

Page 10 Page 2 of 41

Executive Summary

The Licensing Act 2003 (the Act) came into effect in 2005. Section 5 of the Act requires the Licensing Authority (West Lindsey District Council) to determine, and publish, a statement of licensing policy that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under the Act. This process is to be repeated every five years. The Licensing Authority must also keep the policy under review during each five year period and make any such revisions it considers appropriate. The policy was last published in 2020.

Any decision taken by the Licensing Authority in regard to determination of licences, certificates and authorisations should aim to promote the licensing objectives which are:

- The prevention of crime and disorder
- Public safety
- The prevention of public nuisance
- The protection of children from harm

The policy covers the licensable activities as specified in the Act which are:

- Sale by retail or supply of alcohol
- Regulated entertainment
- Late night refreshment

Decisions can be taken by the Licensing Sub-Committee, a 3 person committee comprising members of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee; or Officers using delegated powers.

The policy also has regard to the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.

The Licensing Authority has the ability to grant licences for premises and certificates for qualifying club premises. It also grants personal licences and accepts temporary event notices. Applicants for premises licences should be aware of the expectations of the Licensing Authority and the Responsible Authorities regarding the steps that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.

Where relevant the Licensing Authority consults with the responsible authorities as described in the Act. Local people and Members of the council are able to have their say and their opinion heard through public consultation on this policy and by making representations about applications for premises licences or requesting reviews of licences for problem premises.

Enforcement of the legislation is a requirement of the Act that is undertaken by the Licensing Authority. This policy describes the Licensing Authority's enforcement principles and the principles underpinning the right of review.

1 Introduction

- 1.1 West Lindsey is seen as a place where people want to live, work, invest and visit.
- 1.2 The district of West Lindsey covers the area immediately north of Lincoln and forms the north-west gateway to Lincolnshire. Covering an area of 115,733 hectares (447 square miles, 1,158 square kilometres). The district is predominantly rural and provides an attractive setting for its three market towns of Caistor, Gainsborough and Market Rasen. The district is the 18th most sparsely populated area in England with a population density of 82 people per square kilometre. (ONS 2021 census).
- 1.3 West Lindsey District Council as Licensing Authority (hereinafter referred to as the Licensing Authority) is responsible for the licensing of all licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003 (the Act). This document sets out the policies and principles that the Licensing Authority will apply when making decisions on applications for:
 - Retail sale of alcohol
 - Supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club, or to the order of a member of a club
 - Provision of 'regulated entertainment' to the public, to club members or with a view to profit
 - A performance of a play
 - An exhibition of a film
 - An indoor sporting event
 - Boxing or wrestling entertainment
 - A performance of live music
 - The playing of recorded music
 - A performance of dance
 - Provision of late night refreshment
 - Other similar entertainment
- 1.4 The term licensee/licence holder is deemed to include licence holders, designated premises supervisors and club premises certificate holders.

 This policy is intended to provide clarity to applicants, 'other persons' and 'responsible authorities' on how this Licensing Authority will determine applications to supply alcohol, provide regulated entertainment and operate late night refreshment premises. Guidance is widely available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003 to assist applicants; however the Guidance does not form part of this Policy. The Licensing Authority will take this Policy into account if its discretion is engaged (i.e. at a hearing following relevant representations or a review hearing)
- 1.5 It is recognised that the licensing function is only one means of securing the delivery of the above objectives and should not therefore be seen as solving all problems within the community. The Licensing Authority will therefore continue to work in partnership with other departments of the district council, its neighbouring authorities, the police, other responsible authorities, local businesses and local people towards the promotion of the objectives.

- 1.6 In preparing this policy statement the Licensing Authority has consulted with the following:
 - Lincolnshire Police
 - Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue
 - The Director of Public Health
 - The body responsible for child protection
 - The Planning Authority
 - The Health and Safety authorities
 - Environmental Health
 - Trading Standards
 - Home Office
 - Representatives of licence holders and club certificate holders
 - Local businesses and their representatives
 - Local residents and their representatives
 - Other bodies and persons that the Authority consider could contribute to this
 policy
- 1.7 In undertaking its licensing function, the Licensing Authority will have regard to other legislation, including, but not exclusively:-
 - Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998: requires the Council to take all reasonable steps to reduce crime and disorder within the District.
 - The Regulators' Compliance Code (set out under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006) not to impede economic progress by the regulations we set out and to particularly consider the impact of regulations on small businesses; and
 - The Provision of Services Regulations 2009 to ensure requirements are:
 - Non- discriminatory.
 - ii. Justified by an overriding reason relating to the public interest.
 - iii. Proportionate to that public interest objective.
 - iv. Clear and unambiguous.
 - v. Objective.
 - vi. Made public in advance, and
 - vii. Transparent and accessible.
 - Human Rights Act 1998
 - The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006
 - Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006
 - Police and Crime Act 2009
 - Equality Act 2010
 - Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011
 - Live Music Act 2012
 - Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014
 - The Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014
 - Deregulation Act 2015

- Modern Slavery Act 2015
- Immigration Act 2016
- Business and Planning Act 2020
- The Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025
- 1.8 The purpose of licensing is to regulate licensed premises and other events within the terms of the Act. Where the responsible authorities and other parties do not raise any representations about the application made to the licensing authority, it is the duty of the authority to grant the licence or certificate subject only to conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule or club operating schedule and any mandatory conditions prescribed in the 2003 Act itself. The licensing authority may not therefore impose any further conditions unless its discretion has been engaged following the making of relevant representation(s). It may then only impose such conditions as are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives arising out of the consideration of the representation(s).
- 1.9 When as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes and these hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant must always observe the earlier closing time.
- 1.10 These conditions will relate to the premises and other places being used for licensable activities and the impact of those activities. In this regard the Licensing Authority will primarily focus on the direct impact of any activities taking place on those living, working or otherwise engaged in the area concerned.
- 1.11 Other considerations maybe taken into account including but are not limited to:
 - The nature of the licensable activity
 - The nature and locality of the premises
 - The time of day of the proposed licensable activity/activities
 - The frequency of the activity/activities
- 1.12 In order to minimise problems and the necessity for hearings, it would be sensible for applicants and clubs to consult with responsible authorities when schedules are being prepared. This would allow for proper liaison before representations prove appropriate.
- 1.13 The Licensing Authority will also seek to discharge its responsibilities identified by other Government strategies, and policies, so far as they impact on the objectives of the Licensing Act. Some examples of these Strategies are:
 - Government Action Plans for Tackling Alcohol Related Crime, Disorder and Nuisance;
 - "Safer clubbing"
 - Age Restricted Products and Services: a Code of Practice for Regulatory Delivery (BRDO 2014)
 - The Lincolnshire Alcohol and Drug Strategy 2014 2019
 - The Community Safety Strategy
 - The Children and Young People's plan for Lincolnshire

- 1.14 The Licensing Authority takes the following approach to the decision making process:
 - Each case will be decided upon its merits. This Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making
 - Other persons can include residents'/tenants' associations, community associations, trade associations and elected members. Councillors may represent other persons, providing they do not also sit on the Licensing Sub-Committee determining the application in question
 - We will give clear reasons for our decisions
- 1.15 Where valid representations are made applications will be considered by a Licensing Sub-Committee (consisting of Councillors); we give applicants, responsible authorities and other persons an equal opportunity to state their case in accordance with our hearing procedure, which is available from the Licensing Section.
- 1.16 It should however be made clear that the licensing function is not to be seen as the primary mechanism for the general control of anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the licensee of any premises concerned. Whilst there are a range of statutory powers available to deal with such behaviour, these powers will not always be sufficient to control negative impacts on the licensing objective in the vicinity. Therefore, the fact that such impact may occur is a relevant factor in the consideration of licensing applications. This may lead to a refusal of the application or the application of conditions to meet the concern(s) contained in a relevant representation.
- 1.17 At the time of reviewing this Policy the Licensing Authority was responsible for the following number of licences and permits:

Premises licence (with alcohol)	282
Premises licence (no alcohol)	59
Club premises certificate (with alcohol)	20
Personal licence holders	1426
Total	1787

2 Integrated Strategies and the Avoidance of Duplication

- 2.1 There are a number of wider issues which may need to be given due consideration when dealing with applications. The Council's Licensing Committee may therefore receive, and may act upon, relevant reports concerning:
 - crime and disorder and community safety issues
 - needs of the local tourist economy
 - cultural strategy for the area
 - employment situation in the area and the need for new investment and employment where appropriate

- planning considerations which might affect licensed premise
- local transport arrangements
- Impact of licensing on the provision of regulated entertainment and particularly live music and dancing
- any other reports considered appropriate to the licensing function
- 2.2 The Licensing Authority recognises that licensing applications should not be seen as a re-run of the planning application process and that there should be a clear separation of the planning and licensing regimes to avoid duplication and inefficiency. There are several key differences between licensing and planning control. Licensing is concerned with the fitness of the operator and detailed issues concerning the operation and management of the premises that are not addressed by the planning control process. Planning control relates to need and the use of the premises. The grant of planning permission should not be a presumption that a premises licence will automatically follow and vice versa.
- 2.3 Applicants are strongly encouraged to make any appropriate applications for planning permissions/building regulations approval before or at the same time as they make the application for the premises licence/club premises certificate.
- 2.4 In reaching a decision of whether or not to grant a licence/certificate, the Licensing Authority will take account of any non-compliance with other statutory requirements brought to its attention, particularly where these undermine the licensing objectives. Non-compliance with statutory requirements may demonstrate that the premises are unsuitable for the activities proposed or that the management of the premises is not adequate to protect the public from harm or nuisance.
- 2.5 In order to avoid duplication with existing legislation and regulatory regimes the Licensing Authority will, not attach conditions to the licence/certificate unless they are considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Conditions will generally be considered unnecessary if they are already adequately covered by other legislation.

3 The Licensing Process

- 3.0.1 The functions of the Council under the Act may be carried out by the Licensing Committee, by a Sub-Committee or by one or more officers acting under delegated authority in accordance with the provisions of the of the Act. Delegated powers are in accordance with the table at Appendix 1. These delegated powers do not form part of this Policy and may be amended without consultation or review of the Policy.
- 3.0.2 Each application for licensing will be considered on its own merits, for example, free from the imposition of quotas on the number of licensed premises or generalised closing times. Nothing in this policy will undermine any person from applying for a variety of permissions under the Act.
- 3.0.3 Other than electronic applications applicants are reminded that documents submitted as part of an application which bear a signature, criminal record certificates, criminal conviction certificates, subject access documents and licensing qualifications must be original documents. Faxes and photocopies are not acceptable unless with the prior agreement of the Licensing Authority.

- 3.0.4 Failure to submit an application in the correct form will result in that application being returned. The Licensing Authority will endeavour to explain why the application is considered to be deficient, and will invite the applicant to re-submit the application with all the required information. However, we will not return forms if they contain obvious and minor factual errors that can easily be amended. Applications for a premises licence or club premises certificate must be copied to each of the appropriate Responsible Authorities. It is the responsibility of the applicant to send the copies to the Responsible Authorities, unless the application has been properly made by means of an electronic application facility in which case it is the responsibility of the Licensing Authority to circulate the copies.
- 3.0.5 Applicants for any authority or permission are expected to make their application in accordance with the Act and any regulations made there under. Failure to meet this requirement may result in the application being returned.
- 3.0.6 Applications for minor variations may be subject to consultation with the appropriate responsible authorities and will be refused if any responsible authority indicates that they would make a representation on the proposed minor variation.
- 3.0.7 In an effort to avoid unnecessary hearings, applicants are strongly advised to prepare risk assessments and from these formulate any steps they consider appropriate to promote the licensing objectives and then to consult with the responsible authorities as defined within the Act before submitting their applications. Failure to do so may lead to representations which can only be determined by the Licensing Sub-Committee.
- 3.0.8 Account will be taken of the need to encourage and promote all types of entertainment including live music, dancing and theatre for the wider cultural benefit of the community as a whole. If representations are made concerning the potential for limited disturbance arising out of these activities in a particular neighbourhood, the Licensing Authority's consideration will be balanced against the wider benefits to the community.
- 3.0.9 The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the views of vocal minorities should not be allowed to predominate over the general interest of the community.

3.1 Premises Licence and Club Premises Certificates

- 3.1.1 Applicants will be required to submit their application in the form detailed in regulations made under the Act. Applicants will be required to submit with their application for a premises licence, club premises certificate, provisional statement or a variation to their existing premises licence or club registration certificate, an Operating Schedule detailing:
 - The licensable activities to be conducted on the premises
 - The times during which it is proposed that the relevant licensable activities are to take place
 - any other times when the premises are to be open to the public or to members of a club
 - Where the licence is required only for a limited period, that period

- where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and address of the individual to be specified as the designated premises supervisor and a copy of his or her personal licence
- where the licensable activities include the sale of alcohol, whether the alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the premises or both
- The steps which the applicant proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives
- All supporting documentation to satisfy the four licensing objectives
- 3.1.2 Applications will be determined in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 and subordinate legislation having regard to:
 - This Policy
 - Guidance issued by the Home Office including the guidance made under section 182 of the Act
 - Any 'relevant representations' received (provided they are not determined by officers in consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair of Licensing Committee) to be frivolous or vexatious)
- 3.1.3 The 2003 Act does not require a designated premises supervisor or any other personal licence holder to be present on the premises at all times when alcohol is sold, however the Licensing Authority would expect that details of where the DPS can be contacted would be available at the premises. The Premises Licence will specify the name of the DPS and it is the responsibility of the licensee to notify the Licensing Authority immediately of any change of the DPS.
- 3.1.4 "Authorisation" does not imply direct supervision by a personal licence holder of each sale of alcohol. Ultimately, whether an authorisation has been given is a question of fact that would have to be decided by the courts on the evidence before it in the course of a criminal prosecution.
- 3.1.5 The Secretary of State considers that the following factors should be relevant in considering whether or not an authorisation has been given:
 - The person(s) authorised to sell alcohol at any particular premises should be clearly identified;
 - The authorisation should have specified the acts which may be carried out by the person being authorised;
 - There should be an overt act of authorisation, for example, a specific written statement given to the individual being authorised to supply alcohol; and
 - There should be in place sensible arrangements for the personal licence holder to monitor the activity that they have authorised on a reasonably regular basis.
- 3.1.6 The Secretary of State strongly recommends that personal licence holders give specific written authorisations to individuals that they are authorising to retail alcohol. A single written authorisation would be sufficient to cover multiple sale over unlimited period. This would assist personal licence holders in demonstrating due diligence should issues arise with enforcement authorities; and would protect

- employees if they themselves are challenged in respect of their authority to sell alcohol.
- 3.1.7 The form of any written authorization is a matter for the personal licence holder, but the Licensing Authority would recommend that it should satisfy the criteria listed in the paragraph above. Written authorisation is not a requirement of the Act and its absence alone could not give rise to enforcement action.
- 3.1.8 The Licensing Authority reminds Designated Premises Supervisors that the mandatory licence conditions require relevant premises to hold an age verification policy in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol and further they now also provide that the Designated Premises Supervisor is legally responsible for ensuring that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy.

3.2 Adult Entertainment

- 3.2.1 The Licensing Authority expects all applicants to complete the 'Adult Entertainment' Box of the application form which requires details of any adult entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or matters ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children. If there are to be no such entertainments, services, activities or other matters then the form should state that clearly. The Licensing Authority may return, for amendment, any application which is incomplete in this material area.
- 3.2.2 Applicants should note that the Licensing Authority will attach a 'no adult entertainment' condition to licences when the application indicates that there will be no such entertainment provided.
- 3.2.3 In accordance with the Home Office Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this Authority expects all applicants to make enquiries about the specific area in which the licensed premises is, or is to be, situated. This includes, for example, the proximity to residential properties, areas where children congregate and any risk posed to the local area by the proposed licensable activities. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate this knowledge in their application and accompanying operating schedule.

3.3 Large Scale Events of More than 500 People

3.3.1 Organisers of major festivals and carnivals should approach the Licensing Authority at the earliest opportunity to discuss arrangements for the licensing of those activities falling under the 2003 Act. In respect of some events, the organisers may seek a single premises licence to cover a wide range of activities at varied locations within the premises. Anyone wishing to hold such an event should notify the Licensing Authority no less than 6 months before the event is due to happen. This will allow time for the preparation of a substantial operating schedule, by the applicant, about which the Licensing Authority will offer advice and assistance. If appropriate, the Licensing Authority will act as a co-ordinating body for preliminary input from the responsible authorities prior to formal notification about the event in appropriate cases by the formulation of a Safety Plan by the Lincolnshire Safety Advisory Group, a group made up of representatives from the Police, Fire, Health and Safety, Highways, District Councils and Ambulance service.

3.4 Personal Licences and Designated Premises Supervisors

- 3.4.1 Personal Licences authorise individuals to sell or supply alcohol, or authorise the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises for which a Premises Licence is in force for the carrying-on of that activity. The Licensing Authority strongly encourages Premises Licence holders where alcohol is being sold to ensure that there are sufficient Personal Licence holders for the premises to ensure adequate supervision of the sale of alcohol.
- 3.4.2 Personal licences remain valid unless surrendered, suspended, revoked or declared forfeit by the courts. The requirement to renew a personal licence was removed from the Licensing Act 2003 by the Deregulation Act 2015. While personal licences issued before the 2015 Act have expiry dates, these licences will remain valid and such dates no longer have an effect. Once granted, the licensing authority which issued the licence remains the "relevant licensing authority" for it and its holder, even though the individual may move out of the area or take employment elsewhere. The personal licence itself will give details of the issuing licensing authority.
- 3.4.3 Every premises licence that authorises the sale of alcohol will require that every supply of alcohol under that licence must be made or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence. This in most instances will be the designated premises supervisor who must hold a valid personal licence.
- 3.4.4 The Licensing Authority will require one of the Personal Licence holders to be a Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) at premises where alcohol is sold (premises with Club Premises Certificates are exempt from this requirement and Community Premises e.g. Village Halls can apply to remove the requirement). The main purpose being to ensure that there is always one specified individual who can be readily identified as responsible for the day-to-day management of the business at the premises.
- 3.4.5 The Licensing Authority will expect the DPS to have been given day-to-day responsibility for running the premises by the holder of the Premises Licence.

3.5 Temporary Event Notices

- 3.5.1 Certain temporary events are not required to be licensed, although they must be notified to the Licensing Authority, Lincolnshire Police and the WLDC Environmental Protection Team. The Licensing Authority strongly encourages event organisers to submit TENs notifications as soon as reasonably practicable to enable the Police, Environmental Health and the Licensing Authority to work with them to identify and reduce the risk of any issues in relation to the licensing objectives.
- 3.5.2 The Licensing Authority recommends, but cannot insist, that for normal events at least 20 working days notification be given (the legal requirement is 10 working days). Although only the Police and Environment Health Officers can object to TENs, organisers of events where there may be significant numbers of people or may have an impact on the road network or public safety are encouraged to consult with relevant authorities at an earlier stage. In calculating working days we do not count the day of receipt of the Notice, the day of the event, bank holidays or weekends.

3.5.3 There are two types of Temporary Event Notice, Standard and Late.

TENs are subject to the following conditions and limitations: -

- The duration for each event is limited to a period of up to 168 hours.
- The event involves the presence of not more than 499 people at any one time.
- The same premises can be used for up to 15 occasions in one calendar year but the aggregate number of days must not exceed 21.
- A personal licence holder is limited to 50 TENs (of which 10 may be 'Late') per calendar year.
- A person not holding a personal licence is limited to five TENs (of which 2 may be 'Late') per calendar year.
- Notification of standard TENs must be at least 10 working days before the event. A 'Standard' TEN submitted with less than 10 working days, but more than 4 working days will be treated as a 'Late' TEN.
- 3.5.4 Late TENs can be given up to five working days but no earlier than nine working days before the event is scheduled and, unless given electronically to the Licensing Authority, must also be sent by the premises user to the Police and the Environmental Health Officer. A TEN given less than five days before the event to which it relates will be returned, the activities to which it relates will not be authorised. In calculating working days we do not count the day of receipt of the Notice or the day of the event.
- 3.5.5 The Licensing Authority considers, although it cannot insist, that Late TENs ought not to be used for routine applications but for unplanned changes outside the control of the premises user, for example to change the venue at short notice. This is because of the restrictions of the statutory limits and the consequences should an objection be lodged.
- 3.5.6 The Police and the Council's Environmental Health Officers are the only bodies who may make representations to a TEN. They can object on grounds that allowing the event to proceed would undermine any one of the licensing objectives. Where objections are received to a Standard TEN the matter will be put before the Licensing Sub-Committee at a hearing. The Sub-Committee may decide to:
 - Allow the TEN to go ahead
 - Reject the TEN
 - If the premises already has a premises licence which authorises the sale of alcohol the Sub Committee may allow the TEN but impose some, or all, of the conditions on the premises licence onto the TEN if appropriate
- 3.5.7 In relation to the last point above the Licensing Authority has delegated powers to Officers to issue a TEN with conditions attached (without the need for a licensing hearing) provided all parties agree to the attachment of the conditions. (NB the Licensing Authority has not yet formally delegated this power, if the delegation is not made it will be removed from the final policy).

3.5.8 The Police and Environmental Health Officer have a period of three working days from when they are given the notice to object to a TEN. If there is an objection from either the Police or local authority exercising environmental health functions to a Late TEN, the event will not go ahead. In these circumstances there is no scope for a hearing or the application of existing conditions, nor is there a right of appeal.

4. Licensing Hours

- 4.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that fixed and artificially early closing times in certain areas can lead to peaks of disorder and disturbance on the streets when large numbers of people leave licensed premises at the same time. Longer licensing hours regarding the sale of alcohol may therefore be considered as an important factor in reducing friction at late night food outlets, taxi ranks and other sources of transport.
- 4.2 As far as the Licensing Authority's overall approach to licensing hours is concerned it is not intended that any form of zoning will be introduced. Experience in other areas shows that this can lead to the significant movement of people across boundaries in search of premises opening later and puts greater pressure on town centres than is appropriate, and can lead to increased disorder and nuisance.
- 4.3 Shops, stores and supermarkets should generally be permitted to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises during the normal hours they intend to open for shopping purposes. However, in the case of individual shops that are known to be a focus of disorder and disturbance then, subject to receiving valid, relevant representations, a limitation on licensing hours may be appropriate.
- 4.4 In general, the Licensing Authority will deal with the issue of licensing hours on the individual merits of each application. When issuing a licence, certificate or provisional statement stricter conditions with regard to noise control and/or limitations to opening hours may be imposed in the case of premises which are situated in largely residential or sensitive areas.

5. Licensing Objectives

- 5.0.1 Each of the four licensing objectives is of equal importance and no one objective will take precedence over the others whilst considering applications. The Licensing Authority considers the effective and responsible management of the premises, instruction, training and supervision of staff in the adoption of best practice to be amongst the most essential control measures for the achievement of the licensing objectives. For this reason, these elements should be specifically considered and addressed within an applicant's operating schedule. The Licensing Authority recommends that applicants carry out their own risk assessments in relation to the four licensing objectives in order to assist them in deciding whether any steps are required to be taken in order to meet those objectives.
- 5.0.2 The Licensing Authority reminds applicants of the requirement for them to demonstrate a detailed knowledge of the local area in which their premises is, or is to be located. This knowledge should be translated into the content of their risk assessments.

5.1 Prevention of Crime and Disorder

- 5.1.1 The Licensing Authority will carry out its licensing functions with a view to promoting the prevention of crime and disorder and will seek to ensure that licensees take measures to regulate the behaviour of persons whilst on their premises, or in the immediate vicinity of the premises.
- 5.1.2 In addition to the requirement for the Licensing Authority to promote this licensing objective, it also has a duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to exercise its functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and do all it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in the District.
- 5.1.3 The Licensing Authority recommends applicants to include in their operating schedules the steps they propose to take to reduce/deter crime and disorder. These steps will vary from premises to premises and according to the type of licensable activities that are to be carried on.
- 5.1.4 Examples of measures the Licensing Authority encourage applicants to consider and address include
 - Physical security features e.g. use of toughened or plastic drinking glasses; or alternatives, as outlined in the National Alcohol Strategy
 - Procedure for risk assessment of alcohol promotions to ensure they do not promote irresponsible drinking or potentially breach the mandatory condition on irresponsible drinks promotions
 - The use of Security Industry Authority (SIA) registered door supervisors
 - Amount of seating to be provided to reduce high volume vertical drinking
 - Training given to staff in crime prevention and drug awareness measures
 - Measures agreed with the Police to reduce crime and disorder
 - Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs;
 - Search procedures
 - Participation in an appropriate Radio Link Scheme
 - Formulation of a dispersal policy
 - Measures to prevent customers taking bottles and glasses etc. away from licensed premises
 - Training given to staff to prevent the sale of alcohol to those who are under age or appear drunk
 - Implementing an 'Ask for Angela' or similar scheme at the premises
 - Training given to staff to highlight awareness of violence against women and girls and what interventions can be made at the premises to improve safety
- 5.1.5 CCTV remains one of the most effective measures for reducing crime and disorder. The Licensing Authority expects premises that retail alcohol for consumption on or off the premises will have an effective CCTV system installed that operates in compliance with the requirements of Lincolnshire Police.

5.2 Public Safety

- 5.2.1 The Licensing Authority will carry out their licensing functions with a view to promoting public safety and will seek to ensure that licensees/certificate holders/designated premises supervisors take measures to protect the safety of performers and persons attending licensable activities. The risk to public safety will vary according to the type of premises and the activities carried out.
- 5.2.2 Where an applicant identifies an issue in regard to public safety (including fire safety) which is not covered by existing legislation, the applicant should identify in their operating schedule the steps which will be taken to ensure public safety.
- 5.2.3 Depending on the individual style and characteristics of the premises and/or events the following issues may be of relevance:
 - Suggested occupancy figures (including staff and performers)
 - Use of equipment
 - Levels of door supervision
 - Measures to prevent the supply and use of illegal drugs
 - Physical safety features e.g. use of toughened glass, polycarbonate and plastic containers
 - Fire evacuation procedures
 - Provision of CCTV
 - For Large Scale Events regard should be had for the work of Lincolnshire Safety Advisory Group (S.A.G.)
- 5.2.4 The Licensing Authority would advise applicants applying for permissions to stage events which are likely to draw in large numbers of people and/or have an impact on the road network to have consulted with those authorities concerned with public safety and in particular with the Lincolnshire and West Lindsey Safety Advisory Groups (SAG)..
- 5.2.5 SAG is not a responsible authority but is made up from representatives from bodies concerned with public safety; some of which are responsible authorities. Applicants are advised that the planning and consultation with SAG should commence at an early stage and on particularly large events promoters/organisers should commence consultation at least a year in advance of the event.
- 5.2.6 It is also advisable for applicants to read the guidance for large scale events titled HSG 195, The Event Safety Guide (for health, safety and welfare at music and similar events) commonly known as the Purple Guide.
- 5.2.7 The occupancy capacity for premises, and events as appropriate, is a fundamental factor in the achievement of the four licensing objectives (except in respect of premises licensed for the consumption of food and/or alcohol off the premises). The Licensing Authority recommends the issue of occupancy capacity (including staff and performers) to be considered and addressed within the premises' fire risk assessment.
- 5.2.8 The design and layout of premises are important in determining capacity, as is the availability and size of exits within recommended travel distances. Other factors

should also be considered when assessing the appropriate capacity for premises or events. These include but are not limited to:

- The nature of the premises or event,
- The nature of the licensable activities being provided,
- The provision or removal of such items as temporary structures, such as a stage, or furniture,
- The number of staff available to supervise customers both ordinarily and in the event of an emergency,
- The customer profile,
- Availability of suitable and sufficient sanitary accommodation,
- Nature and provision of facilities for ventilation.
- 5.2.9 The agreement to a capacity for premises or events should not be interpreted as a requirement in all cases to also provide permanent monitoring arrangements such as door staff, attendance clickers or maintenance of attendance records. The Licensing Authority recognises that the person in charge at the premises can often readily assess the capacity of premises without the need to resort to such measures. However, where the capacity is likely to be reached (such as on known busy evenings) and particularly where a special event or promotion is planned, the applicant is advised to detail the additional arrangements that will be put in place to ensure that the capacity of the premises is not exceeded.
- 5.2.10 It will be the responsibility of licence/certificate holders/designated premises supervisors to ensure they have complied with all Health and Safety legislation.
- 5.2.11 Applicants are strongly recommended to have undertaken full risk assessments of the premises, including fire risk assessments, which are a continuous process and as such must be monitored and audited. New and existing control measures should be maintained to make sure they are still working effectively.
- 5.2.12 The Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025, or Martyn's Law, received Royal Ascent on 3 April 2025. This legislation, once fully implemented, will place a requirement on those responsible for certain premises and events to take appropriate action to reduce the risk of harm to their workers and the public. To ensure a proportionate approach, it is expected that procedures and measures that are reasonably practicable are put in place. The legislation establishes a tiered approach linked to the different uses of premises and the number of individuals it is reasonable to expect may be present at the same time at the particular premises or events.
- 5.2.13 There are procedures to be followed by people working at the premises where they suspect an act of terrorism is occurring, or is about to occur, at the premises or in the immediate vicinity. The aim of these requirements is to improve staff preparedness and responses. The Act does not require physical alterations to premises or the purchase of equipment for the purpose of having these procedures in place. Further information can be found at: Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025: Overarching Factsheet

5.3 Prevention of Public Nuisance

- 5.3.1 Licensed premises have a significant potential to impact adversely on communities through public nuisances that arise from their operation. The Licensing Authority wishes to maintain and protect the amenity of residents and other businesses from the potential consequence of the operation of licensed premises whilst recognising the valuable cultural, social and business importance that such premises provide.
- 5.3.2 The Licensing Authority intends to interpret "public nuisance" in its widest sense and takes it to include such issues as noise, light, odour, litter and anti-social behaviour, where these matters impact on those living, working or otherwise engaged in normal activity in an area.
- 5.3.3 When addressing public nuisance the applicant should initially identify any particular issues (having regard to their type of premises and/or activities) which are likely to adversely affect the promotion of the objective to prevent public nuisance. Such steps as are required to deal with these identified issues should be included within the applicant's operating schedule.
- 5.3.4 When addressing the issue of prevention of public nuisance, applicants are encouraged to demonstrate that those factors that impact on the likelihood of public nuisance have been considered. These may include:
 - The location of premises and proximity to residential and other noise sensitive premises such as hospitals, hospices and places of worship
 - The hours of opening, particularly between 23.00 and 07.00
 - The nature of the activities to be provided, including whether those activities are of a temporary or permanent nature and whether they are to be held inside or outside the premises
 - The design and layout of the premises and in particular the presence of noise limiting features
 - The occupancy capacity of the premises
 - 'wind down period' between the end of the licensable activities and the closure of the premises; or formulation of a dispersal policy
 - Last admission time
 - The availability of public transport
 - The availability of parking and access to such parking
 - The impact of service vehicles, particularly outside of business operating hours. e.g. delivery vehicles, waste and bottle collection etc.
- 5.3.5 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants who may need to take account of them in their operating schedule, having regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities:
 - Effective and responsible management of premises,
 - Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to prevent incidents of public nuisance e.g. to ensure customers leave quietly,
 - Provision of CCTV,

- Control of operating hours for all or parts (e.g. garden areas) of the premises, including such matters as deliveries,
- Adoption of best practice guidance relating to noise prevention (e.g. Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise from Pubs and Clubs, produced by Institute of Acoustics),
- Installation of soundproofing, air conditioning, acoustic lobbies and sound limitation devices,
- Management of people, including staff and traffic (and resulting queues) arriving and leaving premises,
- Sighting of external lighting, including security lighting,
- Management arrangements for collection and disposal of litter,
- Effective ventilation systems to prevent nuisance from odour,
- Undertaking noise impact assessments,
- Signage requiring customers to leave the premises in a quiet and orderly manner.

5.4 Protection of children from harm

- 5.4.1 The Licensing Authority recognises the great variety of premises for which licences may be sought. These will include theatres, cinemas, restaurants, pubs, nightclubs, cafes, takeaways, community halls or centres and schools. Except as prohibited by law, access by children to all types of premises will not be limited in any way unless it is considered appropriate to do so to protect them from harm.
- 5.4.2 When deciding whether to limit access to children, other than in circumstances where the law demands their access to be limited, applicants/licence/certificate holders should consider the activities carried on at the premises. Examples which may give rise to concern in respect of children would include premises:
 - Where entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature are commonly provided
 - Where there have been convictions of members of the current staff at the premises for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for underage drinking
 - With a known association with drug taking or dealing
 - Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises (but not, for example, the simple presence of a small number of cash prize gaming machines)
 - Where the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the exclusive or primary purpose of the services provided at the premises
- 5.4.3 In the case of premises which are used for film exhibitions, conditions will be imposed restricting access only to those who meet the required age limit in line with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification or, in specific cases, a certificate given to the film by the Licensing Authority itself.
- 5.4.4 Where a large number of children are likely to be present on any licensed premises, for example, a children's show or pantomime, then following the receipt of relevant representations conditions may be imposed requiring the presence of an appropriate

number of adult staff to ensure public safety and their protection from harm. Where the Licensing Authority considers it appropriate following the receipt of relevant representations it may require the adult supervisors (being persons over the age of 18) to be subject to an enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service check (DBS). The onus will be on the premises licence holder to ensure, where required, these checks have been undertaken and the persons are suitable to carry out the supervision of children, which may include criminal record disclosure from the Disclosure & Barring Service.

- 5.4.5 The options available for limiting access by children would include:
 - Limitations of the hours when children may be present
 - Limitations on the exclusion of the presence of children under certain ages when particular specified activities are taking place
 - Limitations on the parts of premises to which children might be given access;
 - Age limitations (below 18)
 - Requirements for accompanying adults (including for example, a combination of requirements which provide that children under a particular age must be accompanied by an adult)
 - Full exclusion of those people under 18 years of age from the premises when any licensable activities are taking place
- 5.4.6 The Licensing Authority will not impose any condition that specifically requires access for Children to be provided at any premises. Where no restriction or limitation is imposed the issue of access will remain a matter for the discretion of the individual licence holder/certificate holder or designated premises supervisor.
- 5.4.7 Where licence holders wish to employ children, they should ensure that the legislation regarding this matter is complied with and any appropriate permits to work have been obtained. Further information on the requirements of this legislation is available from the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board.
- 5.4.8 In respect of premises licensed for the sale of alcohol, the Licensing Authority commends the <u>Portman Group Codes of Practice</u> for the naming, packaging and promotion of alcoholic drinks.
- 5.4.9 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from moral, psychological and physical harm. This includes not only protecting them from the harms associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider harms such as exposure to strong language and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of exposure to certain films or adult entertainment). The Licensing Authority is especially mindful that it must always consider the need to protect children from sexual exploitation.
- 5.4.10 The general relaxation in the Act giving accompanied children greater access to licensed premises is a positive step, aimed at bringing about a social change in family friendly leisure. This relaxation places additional responsibilities upon licence holders but the Authority acknowledges that parents and other adults accompanying children also have responsibilities.

- 5.4.11 The sale of alcohol to children and young persons under the relevant age is a criminal offence, often resulting in harm to the children and young persons concerned and disturbance and nuisance to local residents and businesses. In an effort to avoid inappropriate representations & subsequent hearings applicants are encouraged to detail adequate control measures in their operating schedule to prevent under-age sales. The Licensing Authority recognises that Lincolnshire County Council Trading Standards Service, as part of its responsibilities and duties under the legislation controlling the sale of age restricted products, including alcohol, provides advice and guidance on the controls and systems that may be adopted to help prevent such sales. The Licensing Authority also recognises that in liaison with the Police, the Trading Standards Service conducts covert test purchasing exercises to check compliance with the law. The Licensing Authority commends the adoption of Proof of Age Schemes such as the Challenge 21 scheme or other similar approved schemes.
- 5.4.12 Mandatory conditions require the adoption of a proof of age scheme. The Licensing Authority commends a scheme such as the British Retail Consortium's Proof of Age Standards Scheme (PASS), the "Challenge 21" scheme, "Challenge 25" scheme or any locally or nationally approved scheme. All staff engaged in the sale or supply of alcohol should be fully trained in the application of any policy adopted.
- 5.4.13 The Designated Premises Supervisor at a licensed premises is legally responsible for ensuring that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either:
 - a. a holographic mark, or
 - b. an ultraviolet feature.

The body responsible for the interests of children is:

The <u>Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership</u> which is contactable through Lincolnshire County Council.

6. Cumulative Impact

- 6.1 The cumulative impact of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives is a matter which the Licensing Authority can take into account. This should not, however, be confused with 'need' which relates more to the commercial demand for a particular type of premises e.g. a pub, restaurant or hotel. The issue of 'need' is therefore a matter for planning consideration or for the market to decide and does not form part of this licensing policy statement.
- The Licensing Authority may receive representations from either a responsible authority or an other person, (both defined by the Act), that the cumulative impact of new licences is leading to an area becoming saturated with premises of a certain type, making it a focal point for large groups of people to gather, and thereby creating exceptional problems of disorder and nuisance over and above the impact from the individual premises themselves. In such cases the issue of cumulative

- impact can be taken into account when considering the individual merits of any application.
- 6.3 The Licensing Authority will not operate a quota of any kind which would predetermine any application, nor will it seek to impose general limitations on trading hours in particular areas. Instead, regard will be given to the individual characteristics of the premises concerned within a given area. It is recognised that pubs, nightclubs, restaurants, hotels, theatres, and other clubs all sell alcohol, serve food and provide entertainment but with contrasting styles and characteristics. Proper regard will be had to those differences and the impact they are likely to have on the local community.
- The decision to include a special policy within this policy will be evidentially based. The steps that will be followed in considering whether to adopt a special policy are:
 - Identification of concern about crime and disorder or public nuisance
 - Consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that crime and disorder and nuisance are arising and are caused by the customers of licensed premises, and if so identifying the area from which the problems are arising and the boundaries of that area; or that the risk factors are such that the area is reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent
 - Consultation with those specified by section 5(3) of the 2003 act as part of the general consultation required in respect of the whole statement of licensing policy
 - Subject to that consultation, inclusion of a special policy about future premises licence or club premises certificate applications from that area within the terms of the guidance issued under section 182 of the 2003 act in the statement of licensing policy
 - Publication of the special policy as part of the statement of licensing policy required by the 2003 act
- 6.5 Any saturation policy is not absolute, and the circumstances of each application will be considered properly.
- There are a number of other mechanisms for addressing issues of unruly behaviour which occur away from licensed premises. These include:
 - planning controls
 - positive measures to create a safe and clean environment in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and others
 - the provision of CCTV surveillance in urban centres, ample taxi ranks, provision of public conveniences open late at night, and effective street cleaning
 - powers to designate parts of the District as places where alcohol may not be consumed publicly
 - confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas
 - police enforcement of the general law with regard to disorder and anti-social behaviour, including the issue of fixed-penalty notices

- police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed premises or temporary event on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder or noise emanating from the premises causing a nuisance
- the power of police, other responsible authorities, local businesses or residents to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question
- enforcement action against those selling alcohol to people who are already drunk
- Directions to leave under section 27 of the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006.
- 6.7 The Licensing Authority may address a number of these issues through the Community Safety Partnership and County Licensing Group in line with the strategic objectives for crime and disorder reduction within the District.

7. Nudity and Striptease

- 7.1 Where the activities specified in an operating schedule include adult entertainment the Licensing Authority, subject to receiving a relevant representation, will take into consideration the increased risk to the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. In particular, the Council will expect the applicant to have given additional thought to the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. (See section 6.5 Protection of Children).
- 7.2 Whilst it is not possible to give an exhaustive list of what amounts to entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature, the Licensing Authority considers that such entertainment would include topless bar staff, striptease, lap, table or pole-dancing, performances involving feigned violence or horrific incidents, feigned or actual sexual acts or fetishism, or entertainment involving strong and offensive language.
- 7.3 This Authority has adopted the provisions of Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended by Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009) so that it can licence sexual entertainment venues in the District.
- 7.4 The Licensing Authority recognises that some premises providing sexual entertainment may not be providing the entertainment at a frequency which requires the premises to be licensed as a sexual entertainment venue. Where such premises are providing (or intending to provide) striptease or any other kind of nudity (for example, pole or lap dancing or topless waitresses) the Licensing Authority, subject to receiving a relevant representation, will take into consideration the increased risk to the promotion of the licensing objectives. In particular, the Licensing Authority encourages applicants to have given additional thought in their operating schedule to the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 7.5 Where premises licence applications include striptease or any other kind of nudity, the Licensing Authority will (on the receipt of relevant representations) have particular regard to the location of the premises in relation to places of religious worship or instruction, schools, youth clubs, nurseries, children's centres or other premises where significant numbers of children are likely to attend. With regard to location the Licensing Authority will give close scrutiny to those applications, which are in close proximity to the aforementioned premises or outside a major town centre

- 7.6 In order to promote the licensing objectives, where the Licensing Authority grants premises licences that include striptease or any other kind of nudity it will generally (following the receipt of relevant representations) impose conditions relating to the following issues:
 - The location within the premises where the activity takes place.
 - The absence of advertising the activities outside the premises.
 - The measures taken to ensure no person under 18 years of age enters the premises whilst adult entertainment is taking place.
 - The measures taken to ensure that the activities inside the premises cannot be seen from outside the premises.
 - The position of the performers' dressing rooms in relation to the area in which they perform.
 - Absence of physical contact between performers and customers.
 - Absence of private booths or private performance areas.
 - Means by which potential customers will be made aware of the nature of the performance.
 - Stewarding arrangements.
- 7.7 Where a premises has a licence issued under the 2003 Act and a sex entertainment venue licence issued under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and there are similar conditions on both licences, the more onerous will apply.

8. General Matters

8.1 Regulated Entertainment

- 8.1.1 The Licensing Authority is keen to encourage the performance of music and other entertainment at local venues and welcomes the changes to the 2003 Act which aim to facilitate such local activities. The cumulative effects of the deregulatory changes mean that no licence is required for the following activities:
 - Live unamplified music anywhere between 0800-2300hrs
 - Live amplified music in licensed premises and workplaces between 0800-2300hrs as long as the audience does not exceed 500.
 - Recorded music between 0800-2300hrs in on-licensed premises provided the audience does not exceed 500.
 - Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500
 - Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
 - Films: no licence is required for 'not-for-profit' film exhibition held in community premises between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such screening abides by age classification ratings.

- Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for an event between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that those present do not exceed 1000.
- Boxing or wrestling entertainment: no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000.
- 8.1.2 Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no limit on audience size for:
 - any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority;
 - any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider;
 - any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor.
- 8.1.3 An authorisation for regulated entertainment is always required for entertainment activities that take place before 08.00 or after 23.00, unless exempted under any other provision of the 2003 Act. Applicants should always consult the Licensing Authority if there is any doubt about licensing requirements.
- 8.1.4 Any Licence conditions imposed for live or recorded music activities will only apply if the activity has:
 - more than 500 people present, and/or
 - the activities are taking place between 23.00hrs and 08.00hrs.
- 8.1.5 These conditions will, in effect, be suspended between 08.00hrs and 23.00hrs if a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music takes place before an audience of 500 people or fewer, but will remain on the face of the licence for when these activities may take place under other circumstances.
- 8.1.6 The Authority also acknowledges that the changes aim to strike a balance between the management of risks and regulatory burdens. The Licensing Authority is also mindful that anyone involved in the organisation or provision of entertainment activities whether or not any such activity is licensable under the 2003 Act must comply with any applicable duties that may be imposed by other legislation relevant to the event (e.g. in areas such as crime and disorder, fire, health and safety, noise, nuisance and planning). Any such person should take steps to be aware of relevant best practice, and may find responsible authorities a useful source of expert support and advice.
- 8.1.7 The Licensing Authority can remove the effect of the deregulation following a licence review and make live and recorded music in licensed premises licensable.
- 8.1.8 The Licensing Authority is aware that the comprehensive changes, whilst designed to reduce red tape, can be a source of confusion. In case of doubt when deciding if an activity is licensable organisers are urged to check with the Authority. Each case will be judged on its own merits. Karaoke is live music.

8.2 Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs)

- 8.2.1 EMROs can be introduced by the Licensing Authority for any part of the District where it is considered that restricting the sale of alcohol between Midnight and 6am is appropriate to promote the four licensing objectives. It can apply either every day or for certain days, and for an unlimited or time-limited period.
- 8.2.2 Prior to introducing an EMRO, the Authority must consult directly with the Responsible Authorities, licensed premises and more widely with residents and other parties likely to be affected. Any representations must be made within a 28-day period and be considered by the relevant Licensing Committee; the EMRO itself must be endorsed by the full Council. Once introduced, the EMRO will make it an offence to sell alcohol during the times specified in the order, whether under a premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN (subject to certain specified exceptions).
- 8.2.3 The Licensing Authority does not, at this time, envisage the need for an EMRO in the District and so any consultation in relation to the possible introduction of an EMRO or decision to implement an EMRO will be undertaken separately.

8.3 Late Night Levy (LNL)

- 8.3.1 Late night levies allow Licensing Authorities to charge a levy on persons who are licensed to sell alcohol late at night to contribute towards the policing costs generated by the late night economy. Any revenue must be shared between the Licensing Authority and the Police.
- 8.3.2 A consultation process is required before introducing a LNL. The consultation process will include the Police, licence holders and others. Unlike EMROs a LNL will not apply to TENs.
- 8.3.3 The legislative provisions for the LNL are not part of the Licensing Act 2003 so this is not, therefore, an issue directly related to this Policy. Like EMRO's there are no current plans to consider introducing a LNL.

8.4 Outdoor Furniture and Street Café Licences

8.4.1 The Licensing Authority will (on the receipt of relevant representations) carefully consider any application for a premises licence where outdoor tables and chairs are to be provided. In particular the Licensing Authority will consider the premises in the context of their location, the hours during which the premises are to be open, the proposed licensable activities and proposals for control of tables and chairs outside the hours of operation. Where appropriate, licence holders should ensure that they have an agreement (street café licence) with Lincolnshire County Council to use the public footway for the provision of tables and chairs.

8.5 Smoke Free Legislation

8.5.1 The Licensing Authority is aware that with the introduction of smoke free legislation there are a small number of licensed premises in the District that are unable to provide external smoking areas due to the layout and constraints of the particular licensed establishment. The Licensing Authority is aware that the congregation of

patrons on the public highway outside the premise, who have temporarily vacated the premise in order to smoke, may in certain circumstances, lead to public nuisance issues. This is particularly the case where customers remain outside for some considerable period of time and consume alcohol immediately outside the premise as well as smoking. Licence holders should therefore ensure that appropriate measures are in place where appropriate to minimise public nuisance as a result of customers congregating outside the premise. Where applications for review are received the Licensing Authority may consider measures to negate public nuisance in the immediate vicinity of the premise.

8.6 Late Night Refreshment

8.6.1 With regard to premises providing late night refreshment for consumption off the premises, the Licensing Authority will (on the receipt of relevant representations) carefully consider the level of nuisance likely to be caused by way of noise and litter/food refuse being deposited in the vicinity of the premises. Applicants should consider proposing practical steps in their operating schedule to reduce the likelihood of such problems.

8.7 Designated Premises Supervisor

8.7.1 The sale and supply of alcohol, because of its impact on the wider community and on crime and anti-social behaviour, carries with it greater responsibility than that associated with the provision of regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. Because of this the Licensing Authority will normally expect that the DPS for a licensed premise will be able to demonstrate that they are in day to day control of the premises and playing an active role in its operation through a regular personal presence.

8.8 Review of Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates

- 8.8.1 A review of premises licences or club premises certificates is a means available to responsible authorities and other persons to examine the operation of the premises when it become problematic and is putting the licensing objectives at risk. The Licensing Authority will consider the full range of powers available to it when an application for review of a licence or certificate is heard. It will however be mindful of the need to prevent the review process being used as an opportunity by Responsible Authorities and Other persons to re-run earlier representations without due cause. The power to review premises licences/certificate represents a crucial protection for the community, especially with regards to the promotion of the four licensing objectives. Reviews of licences/certificates may be triggered at any stage by Responsible Authorities or Other persons due to a matter arising at the licensed premises and relating to one of the four licensing objectives. Reviews will become appropriate following the service of a closure order. It is the Licensing Authority's belief that the promotion of the licensing objectives is best achieved in an atmosphere of mutual co-operation between all stakeholders. Reviews should therefore be mainly reserved for circumstances where early warnings of concerns and the need for improvement have gone unheeded by the management of the licensed premises.
- 8.8.2 This Authority emphasises the importance of all parties working in partnership to achieve the promotion of licensing objectives; the Authority expects that

Responsible Authorities will aim to give licensees early warning of any concerns identified at a premises.

- 8.8.3 The Licensing Authority is also a Responsible Authority under the Act. When acting as a Responsible Authority the Licensing Authority will, as far as is practicable, operate in accordance with the Home Office Guidance to Licensing Authorities in that there will be clear and identifiable separation of responsibilities. The Licensing Authority is able to initiate a licence review and to make representations about licence applications. The function of initiating a licence review is delegated to the Team Manager, Community Action Team, a post within the Localism Service of the Council. The Licensing Team, which serves the Licensing Authority, is a separate entity. The Team Manager, Community Action Team will initiate any premises reviews or make any relevant representations in relation to licence applications, whilst the Licensing Team will process applications and reviews and offer advice to the Licensing Authority.
- 8.8.4 The Licensing Authority does not, as a general rule, intend to act as a responsible authority on behalf of other parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or community groups). Such parties can make relevant representations in their own right, and it is reasonable to expect them to make representations themselves where they are reasonably able to do so. However, if these parties have failed to take action and the Licensing Authority considers that there are relevant grounds to make a representation then it may choose to act in its capacity as responsible authority.
- 8.8.5 The Licensing Authority expects that other responsible authorities should intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within their remit, For example, the Police where the representations are based on concerns about crime and disorder. Likewise, officers exercising environmental health functions should make representations where there are concerns about noise nuisance.
- 8.8.6 The Licensing Authority may choose to make representations in some circumstances, for example to bring together a number of minor unconnected complaints, that in themselves would not result in a representation from another Responsible Authority but when considered together may amount to a public nuisance. Likewise it could act to deal with breaches of licence conditions only witnessed by licensing officers.
- 8.8.7 Responsible Authorities and Other persons (e.g. local residents, local organisations and West Lindsey District Council Members) can apply for the review of a licence; the Licensing Authority itself acting as responsible authority can initiate the review process. The Authority's role will also be to administrate the process and determine its outcome at a hearing where an evidential basis for the allegations made will need to be submitted.
- 8.8.8 The Licensing Authority will seek to establish the cause or causes of the concern and remedial action will be targeted at such causes. Any action will be proportionate to the problems involved. The steps the authority may take at a review hearing are:
 - Modify (which includes adding deleting or altering) the conditions
 - Excluding licensable activities from the licence/certificate
 - Remove the designated premises supervisor
 - Suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months

- Revoke the licence/certificate
- Take no action
- 8.8.9 The Sub-Committee may also consider issuing an informal warning to the licence holder and/or to recommend improvement within a particular period of time. If none of the above steps is considered appropriate the premises licence will remain in the form it was granted. Where reviews arise and the licensing authority determines that the crime prevention objective is being undermined through the premises being used to further crimes, it is expected that revocation of the licence, even in the first instance, should seriously be considered.

8.9 Councillors as Other Persons

8.9.1 The definition of "other person", in relation to the Licensing Act 2003, can include Councillors/Members. When acting as an other person Members will be aware of the role of the elected members in relation to licensing committee hearings and the Model Code of Conduct.

8.10 Town and Parish Councils

8.10.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that Town and Parish Councils are bodies that are democratically elected to represent the views of their area. They are not Responsible Authorities under the Act but they are able to act as 'other persons' in their own right and also to represent the views of other parties when requested to do so

8.11 Drinking Up Time/Chill Out Period

- 8.11.1 It is recommended the hours during which premises are licensed to sell or supply alcohol and the opening hours of a premise are not the same and therefore applicants for premises licensed for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises are advised to consider a drinking up/cooling down period during which music volume (especially base beat) may be reduced, customers may consume their drinks, use the toilet facilities and make arrangements for transport from the premises. The Licensing Authority considers that this approach will assist in the gradual dispersal of customers and consequently reduce impact on the surrounding area.
- 8.11.2 The Licensing Authority will consider imposing a condition on drinking up time in individual cases where relevant representation(s) are made and it is considered that such a condition is appropriate in order to promote the licensing objectives in any individual case.
- 8.11.3 Applicants and licence holders are reminded that the provision of late night refreshment between the hours of 2300 and 0500 (with certain exceptions) is a licensable activity. As such the provision of late night refreshment must only take place by way of authorisation under the Licensing Act 2003.

8.12 Staff Training and Safeguarding

8.12.1 The licensing authority recognises the role that licensed premises play towards safeguarding and the protection of vulnerable persons. Safeguarding is not limited to

children and young people, and vulnerability is an inherent part of the night-time economy. Various training packages and resources exist which could help promote safeguarding awareness amongst staff members. This Authority recognises and supports initiatives such as Ask for Angela, the Welfare and Vulnerability Engagement (WAVE) Initiative and the work of Drinkaware.

8.12.2 The safety of women within the night-time economy is crucial, as often the night-time can pose a risk of harassment, unwelcome situations and a feeling of vulnerability. As a licensed premises, being proactive, establishing clear policies and staff training can create a more secure atmosphere and implementing simple measures such as well-lit entrances and exits, and having visible security can enhance overall safety and comfort for women in social spaces. Promotion of campaigns relating to the safety and wellbeing of women and vulnerable people at the premises (such as those above) must also be considered.

8.13 Petrol Stations

8.13.1 Section 176 of the Act states that any authorisation for the supply of alcohol in relation to a garage will have no effect if the premises is used primarily as a garage. It is for the Licensing Authority to decide in the light of the facts whether or not any premises are used primarily as a garage. The Licensing Authority will establish primary use based on an examination of the intensity of use by customers of the premises and not based on an examination of gross or net turnover.

8.14 Circuses

- 8.14.1 Travelling circuses are now exempt from licensing in respect of any entertainment (excluding film shows, boxing or wrestling) which takes place there, provided that:
 - It takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the audience and;
 - The circus has not been on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days.

8.15 Excessive Consumption of Alcohol/Binge Drinking/Irresponsible Drinks Promotions

- 8.15.1 The Licensing Authority is acutely aware of the link between the supply of excessively discounted liquor or irresponsible drinks promotions and incidents of alcohol related disorder as well as the impact that excessive or binge drinking can have on public health. The Council as Licensing Authority will use the powers contained within the Licensing Act to ensure operators' promotional activities do not undermine the licensing objectives.
- 8.15.2 Licence holders are reminded that the mandatory licence conditions require the responsible person at the licensed premises to take all reasonable steps to ensure that staff do not carry out irresponsible promotions. Irresponsible promotion means carrying on an activity (defined in the mandatory condition), which carries a significant risk to the licensing objectives. When deciding whether a drinks promotion constitutes an irresponsible promotion the Authority will make specific reference to the guidance issued by the Home Office in relation to drinks promotions

- and the Authority will give appropriate weight to the Home Office document in its decision making process.
- 8.15.3 Irresponsible drinks promotions are likely to encourage excessive consumption or binge drinking and result in alcohol fuelled incidents of crime and disorder and implications for public safety, public nuisance and may expose children to risk of harm.
- 8.15.4 Any premises found to be promoting irresponsible drinks promotions (likely to have a negative effect on the licensing objectives) will be liable for prosecution. Responsible Authorities have stated that where evidence shows that a premises' alcohol drinks promotions are undermining one or more of the licensing objectives, then they may instigate a review of the licence.
- 8.15.5 When completing operating schedules and in their management of premises, applicants should consider guidance documents on the responsible promotion of alcohol and on binge drinking, such as the British Beer and Pub Association's document Point of Sales Promotion Standards for the Management of Responsible Drinks Promotions, including happy hours. The Licensing Authority expects applicants to have regard to these issues when completing risk assessments or operating schedules.
- 8.15.6 Where relevant representations are made or reviews are requested on any individual case, the licensee will be expected to demonstrate to the Licensing Authority that appropriate measures are in place to ensure that promotions do not carry a significant risk to the licensing objectives.
- 8.15.7 On receipt of relevant representations, or review applications, from a Responsible Authority or Other person, which demonstrate a clear link between sales promotions and levels of crime and disorder or public nuisance on or in the vicinity of the premises, the Licensing Authority will seriously consider the status of the premises licence.
- 8.15.8 The Director of Public Health may be useful in providing evidence or making representations in respect of matters such as alcohol-related A&E admissions or ambulance service data that might be directly relevant to an application under the act.
- 8.16 Community Premises and Applications for the Removal of the Requirement for a Designated Premises Supervisor
- 8.16.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that community premises may apply for the removal of the requirement for a Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS).
- 8.16.2 On receipt of an application requesting the removal of the two mandatory conditions relating to the need for a Designated Premises Supervisor, and sales of alcohol being authorised by a personal licence holder, the Licensing Authority will consider replacing those conditions with the following alternative condition:
 - Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by the management committee

- 8.16.3 Such applications shall only be granted to 'community premises'. A Community Premises is defined as premises that are or form part of;
 - a) a church hall, chapel hall or other similar building, or
 - b) a village hall, parish hall, community hall or similar building
- 8.16.4 When considering whether a premises is a community premises the Licensing Authority will consider each application on its own merits. The main consideration for the Licensing Authority will be how the premises are predominately used. If they are genuinely made available and accessible by a broad range of persons and sectors of the local community, for purposes beneficial to the community as a whole, then the premises is likely to meet the definition. However if there is an aspect of private gain in relation to the operation of the premises then it is unlikely to viewed as a community premises.
- 8.16.5 Before granting the dispensation from the requirement for a DPS the Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that suitable arrangements are in place at the community premises in order to manage the supply of alcohol. Officers acting under delegated powers will undertake the initial scrutiny of applications. If Officers or the Police are not happy with the arrangements (and the applicant still wishes to proceed with the application) then the application will be considered by a Licensing Sub-Committee hearing.
- 8.16.6 All applications must be copied to the Police for comment and consultation. The Licensing Authority will allow the Police 28 days to make any representations.
- 8.16.7 The Licensing Authority will consider the management arrangements of the premises when considering applications for the removal of the requirement for a DPS. The management should be by a formal Management or Executive Committee, and the premises licence must be in the name of that committee. The Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that the arrangements for the management of the premises are sufficient to ensure adequate supervision of the supply of alcohol on the premises. Any arrangements should normally include:
 - The contact details of a responsible person or nominated contact to take any appropriate action should issues arise
 - A written policy on how children and underage sales of alcohol will be managed. The policy should identify the offences under Sections 145 to 153 inclusive of Licensing Act 2003 in respect of children and alcohol
 - An effective hiring agreement when the premises are hired for private events
 - Provision of a Refusals Register
 - Provision of Staff Training
- 8.16.8 Community premises should note that the Licensing Authority supports the Challenge 21 Scheme in order to combat the underage sales of alcohol and endorses the **Action with Communities in Rural England (**ACRE) model in relation to community premises hiring agreements.
- 8.16.9 The Licensing Authority would normally expect any hiring agreement to contain the following:

- The conditions of the premises licence
- The policy on underage sales
- A signed declaration that the hirer has read and understands his responsibilities in leasing the premises
- 8.16.10 The management board or committee, as premises licence holder, will collectively be responsible for ensuring compliance with the law.
- 8.16.11 If a representation is received from the Police requesting the imposition of the same mandatory conditions applicable to non-community premises, then the Licensing Authority will consider whether those conditions are appropriate to promote the crime prevention objective before granting or varying the licence. Where a review application is made in respect of a premises licence that includes the 'alternative condition', the Licensing Authority may determine that normal mandatory conditions should apply, and a Designated Premises Supervisor is required.

8.17 New Year's Eve and New Year's Day

8.17.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that licensed premises are likely to wish to have extended operating hours over the period of New Year's Eve into New Year's Day. With this in mind applicants are encouraged to make provision for this period in their licence applications rather than perhaps relying on a Temporary Event Notice (TEN). If representations are made concerning the potential for noise disturbance during this limited period, the Licensing Authority's consideration will be balanced against the special nature of this particular time of the year.

8.18 Licence Suspensions – non-payment of annual fee

- 8.18.1 Most Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates attract an annual fee, the payment of which is due on the anniversary of the grant of the licence or certificate. The Act requires a licensing authority to suspend a premises licence or club premises certificate if the annual fee is not paid when it is due, unless the payment was not made because of an administrative error, or a disputed liability for the fee notified before or at the time of the due date. In either of these cases there is a grace period of 21 days to allow the licensing authority and the licence holder the opportunity to resolve the dispute or error.
- 8.18.2 A dispute is one relating to liability to pay the fee at all or relating to its amount. In either case, the licence or certificate holder must notify the licensing authority of the dispute on or before the date on which the fee to which it relates becomes due.
- 8.18.3 There is no definition of "administrative error" in the 2003 Act, but it can include an error on the part of the licensing authority, the licence or certificate holder, or any other person. Therefore, "administrative error" will be given its plain, ordinary meaning. An example might be where post has been misdirected.
- 8.18.4 Where such a suspension takes place the Licensing Authority must give a minimum of two days' notice and may inform the police and other Responsible Authorities of the suspension. All licensable activities must cease when the suspension takes effect. The suspension will only cease on payment of the outstanding fee irrespective of any transfer or hearing which may take place. The debt is owed by the licence holder who held the licence at the time it was suspended. However, it is

likely that any new holder will make the payment. Where more than one payment year has been missed the outstanding fee in relation to each year will be required to reinstate the licence. Any non-compliance with a suspension notice may result in prosecution and also revocation of the licence.

8.18.5 The Licensing Authority urges licence holders to consider surrendering licences in cases where the licence is no longer active. This will avoid the accrual of annual fees.

8.19 Immigration Act 2016 – Entitlement to work

- 8.19.1 Section 36 of and Schedule 4 to the Immigration Act 2016 made a number of amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 to introduce immigration safeguards in respect of licensing applications made in England and Wales on or after 6 April 2017. The intention of these changes is to prevent illegal working in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol or late night refreshment.
- 8.19.2 The commencement of the Immigration Act 2016 made it a requirement for licensing authorities to be satisfied that an applicant has the right to work in the UK. An application made by someone who is not entitled to work in the UK must be rejected.
- 8.19.3 Licences must not be issued to people who are illegally present in the UK, who are not permitted to work, or who are permitted to work but are subject to a condition that prohibits them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity.
- 8.19.4 A premises or personal licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will lapse if the holder's permission to live or work in the UK comes to an end.
- 8.19.5 The statutory prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective in the Licensing Act 2003 includes the prevention of immigration crime and the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. The licensing authority will work in partnership with the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) and Lincolnshire Police with a view to preventing illegal working in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol or late night refreshment.
- 8.19.6 The licensing authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Home Office in relation to the immigration related provisions now contained in the Licensing Act 2003.

9. Conditions of Licence

- 9.1 When considering conditions the Licensing Authority will look to the relevant responsible authorities to assist and advise on the appropriate measures to be taken.
- 9.2 The Licensing Authority does not propose to implement standard conditions of licence. It may draw upon the model pool of conditions issued by the Home Office in Annex D of the Guidance issued under Section 182 of the 2003 Act and attach conditions as appropriate given the circumstances of each individual case.

- 9.3 The Licensing Authority is aware of the need to avoid measures which deter live music, dancing and theatre by imposing indirect costs of a substantial nature.
- 9.4 The Licensing Authority is mindful that, additionally, any conditions which it attaches should be:
 - Appropriate
 - Proportionate
 - Enforceable
 - Precise, unequivocal and unambiguous
 - Not duplicated by other statutory provisions
 - Expressed in plain language capable of being understood by those expected to comply with them.

10. Enforcement

- 10.1 Where relevant the Licensing Authority will establish protocols with the Police and other enforcing authorities. These protocols will provide for the targeting of agreed problem and high-risk premises while applying a lighter touch approach in respect of low-risk premises.
- In general, action will only be taken in accordance with the Council's own enforcement policy, which reflects the agreed principles which are consistent with the Enforcement Concordat. To this end the key principles of targeting consistency, transparency and proportionality will be maintained.

11. Review of Policy

11.1 The Policy Statement will remain in existence for a period of 5 years and will be subject to review and further consultation before January 2031. However, following consultation, the Council may make revisions to it at such times as it considers appropriate.

12. Exchange of Information

12.1 The Authority may from time to time exercise its powers under Section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to exchange data and information with the Police and other partners to fulfil its statutory objective of reducing crime in the area.

13. Advice and Guidance

13.1 Further guidance information and advice on the licensing process can be obtained by contacting the District Council's licensing team at:

Licensing
West Lindsey District Council
Guildhall
Marshalls Yard
Gainsborough
Lincolnshire
DN21 2NA

Tel: 01427 676676

Email: <u>licensing@west-lindsey.gov.uk</u>

This policy has been prepared having undertaken an equality impact assessment.

14. Delegation of functions

- 14.1 The Licensing Authority will be involved in a wide range of licensing decisions and functions and has established a Licensing Committee to administer them. Appreciating the need to provide a speedy, efficient and cost-effective service to all parties involved in the licensing process, the Committee has delegated certain decisions and functions and has established Sub-Committees to deal with them.
- 14.2 Further, with many of the decisions and functions being purely administrative in nature, the grant of non-contentious applications including, for example, those licences and certificates where no representations have been made, has been delegated to Officers.
- 14.3 The table shown at Appendix 1 of this Policy sets out the agreed delegation of decisions and functions to Licensing Committee, Sub-Committee and Officers. This form of delegation is without prejudice to Officers referring an application to a Sub-Committee, or to the Full Committee, if considered appropriate in the circumstances of any particular case.
- 14.4 The function of the Licensing Authority when acting as a Responsible Authority will be undertaken by the Senior Licensing and Community Safety Officer.

Delegation of Functions

The delegation of functions in relation to licensing matters are as follows:

Matter to be dealt with	Licensing Committee	Sub Committee	Chief Executive
Application for personal licence		If a police objection	If no objection made
Application for premises licence/club premises certificate		If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application for provisional statement		If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application for to vary premises licence/club premises certificate		If a relevant representation is made	If no relevant representation is made
Application to vary designated premises supervisor		If a police objection	All other cases
Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor			All cases
Application for transfer of premises licence		If a police objection	All other cases
Applications for interim authorities		If a police objection	All other cases
Application to review premises licence/club premises certificate		All cases	
Decision on whether a complaint is irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious etc			All cases (in consultation with either Chair or Vice Chair of Licensing Committee
Decision to object when local authority is a consultee and not the relevant authority considering the application		All cases	

	T	Г	
Determination of a		All cases	
police or environmental protection objection to a temporary event notice			
Acknowledgement of a Temporary Event Notice			All cases
Determination as to whether or not a premises is used primarily as a garage (Section 176 of the 2003 Act) Determination of an application for the minor variation of a premises licence.		All other cases	Where Officers are of the opinion that the premises meet the requirements of Section 176. All Cases
Application by a Community Premises for the disapplication from the requirement for a DPS.		All other cases	Where Officers are of the opinion that the premises meet the required standard and there have been no objections by Lincolnshire Police.
Decision to add existing premises licence conditions to TEN where objections made, provided all parties agree			All cases

(This summary is for information purposes only and does not form part of the Statement of Policy. The delegations may be amended at any time without further consultation).

The Licensing Sub-Committee shall consist of a minimum of three Members.

Definitions and Glossary

Premises Licence

A Premises Licence / Club Premises Certificate is required in respect of any premises that are to be used for one or more of the licensable activities. These include:

- a) The sale of alcohol by retail
- b) The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club
- c) The provision of Regulated Entertainment
- d) The provision of late night refreshment

Regulated Entertainment

Regulated Entertainment is entertainment that is provided to members of the public, to members of a qualifying club and is an event held with a view to profit. This includes:

- a) The performance of a play
- b) The exhibition of a film
- c) The holding of an indoor sporting event
- d) Boxing or wrestling entertainment
- e) The performance of live music
- f) The playing of recorded music
- g) The performance of dance
- h) The provision of late night refreshment
- i) Anything similar to live music, recorded music or dance

Personal Licence

Personal Licences authorise individuals to sell or supply alcohol, or authorise the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises for which a Premises Licence is in force for the carrying-on of that activity.

The Deregulation Act 2015 abolished the requirement for Personal Licences to be renewed, accordingly from 1 April 2015 they will be valid indefinitely.

Major Variation (to Premises Licence)

Such as, for example, in connection with extending the hours or days of trading, or making major structural alterations.

Minor Variation (to Premises Licence)

This process can be used to make minor variations to existing Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates issued under the Licensing Act 2003 and can include:

- Minor changes to the structure or layout or a premises.
- Small adjustments to licensing hours.

- Conditions: removal of irrelevant or unenforceable conditions.
- Licensable activities: adding certain licensable activities, including live music Community Premises

The legislation defines these as premises that are or form part of:

- a church hall, chapel hall or other similar building
- a village hall, parish hall community hall or other similar building

Cumulative Impact

Means the potential impact on the promotion of the Licensing Objectives of a significant number of premises concentrated in one area. For example, the potential impact on crime and disorder or public nuisance on a town of a large concentration of licensed premises in that part of the West Lindsey District.

Responsible Authority

The term 'Responsible Authority' includes public bodies that must be fully notified of applications and that are entitled to make representations to the Licensing Authority in relation to the application for the grant, variation or review of a licence. For all premises, these include the Chief Officer of Police; the local Fire Authority; the Licensing Authority, the local enforcement agency for Health and Safety at Work; West Lindsey District Council's Environmental Protection and Planning teams and the Lincolnshire County Council's Child Protection Committee/Social Services Department, Director of Public Health and the Home Office.

Officer (of the Council)

The term, when used in this Policy document, refers to an employee of West Lindsey District Council operating under the delegated authority of the Council to undertake its regulatory functions, including that of licensing.

If you would like a copy of this document in large print, audio, Braille or in another language:

Please telephone 01427 676676 or email customer.services@west-lindsey.gov.uk



West Lindsey District Council Guildhall, Marshall's Yard Gainsborough Lincolnshire, DN21 2NA